S180890

Supreme Court Case No.

Supreme Court of California

LES JANKEY

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiff-Petitioner

MAR 11 2010

SONG KOO LEE

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Defendant-Respondent

----- I -----

Petition after a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four

Ruvolo, P. J., Sepulveda and Rivera, JJ

Case No. A123006

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scottlynn J Hubbard IV, SBN 212970 LAW OFFICES OF LYNN HUBBARD 12 Williamsburg Lane Chico, California 95926 (530) 895-3252 lawofchaos@aol.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

Should California state courts split with California federal district courts and award mandatory (non-discretionary) attorney's fees to prevailing defendants against the plaintiff – under a state law the Ninth Circuit has already found preempted – for a non-frivolous yet unsuccessful Americans Disabilities Act ("ADA") claim?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The issue raised by this petition is one of first impression before this Court – (1) Does Section 55 of the California Civil Code mandate an award of attorney fees to prevailing defendants; and, if it does, (2) Is Section 55 preempted to the extent it permits the award of fees against a disabled plaintiff for pursuing a non-frivolous ADA claim. These are critically important questions that present significant precedential and public policy importance with which the lower courts – not only the state courts of California, but the federal district courts in the Ninth Circuit – have struggled. Both California state and federal courts have considered whether a defendant, who prevails over a disabled plaintiff's request for injunctive relief under Section 55 based on the denial of full and equal treatment under the ADA, is entitled to fees, and both have arrived at the opposite conclusions.

For simplicity's sake, petitioner will use the single term "frivolous" to denote claims that are "frivolous, unreasonable or groundless."

Indeed, the Ninth Circuit noted the split among federal district courts that have dealt with this issue, and invited this Court to provide an authoritative and definitive interpretation of the "prevailing party" language of this statute. *See Hubbard v. SoBreck*, 531 F.3d 983, 987 (9th Cir. 2008) ("we leave it to California courts to interpret Section 55 in a definitive way, and to decide authoritatively whether it would mandate fees to all prevailing defendants."). In addition to the Ninth Circuit, petitioner's counsel – who served as lead counsel in that federal appeal – has also previously asked the Court to resolve this conflict. *Molski v. Arciero Wine Group.*, Petition for Review, Case No. S165946, 2008 WL 6137582 (Aug. 15, 2008). Both requests were declined.

With no clear guidance from this Court, California courts of appeal have now (erroneously) concluded that because Section 55 does not, on its face, distinguish between plaintiffs and defendants, a successful defendant is automatically entitled to a mandatory, non-discretionary award of attorney's fees, regardless of whether the plaintiff's claims were meritorious (but unsuccessful) on the one hand; or frivolous on the other. *See Jankey v. Song Koo Lee*, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355, at **7-8 (Feb. 5, 2010), citing with approval, *Molski v. Arciero Wine Group*, 164 Cal.App.4th 786 (2008) ("Arciero Wine"). With all due respect to these courts of appeal, their rulings are contrary to the test

established by the Supreme Court to determine whether a state law conflict is preempted; are inconsistent with the public policy that underlies all of California's disabled access legislation; are inconsistent with the legislative history of Section 55; and cut against the clearly emerging body of law interpreting and applying the fee-shifting provisions of various state and federal civil rights legislation. Although previous invitations have been declined, petitioner hopes the Court will take this opportunity to resolve what is now a full-blown split between California state and federal courts; and overturn the *Song Koo Lee* opinion with an authoritative and definitive interpretation that will bring Section 55 in line with other fee-shifting statute standards and the intent of the California legislature.

STATEMENT REGARDING PETITION FOR REHEARING

The decision of the court of appeal was final, and no petition for rehearing before that court was filed by either party.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND²

Petitioner Les Jankey ("Jankey" or "petitioner") brought this lawsuit against Respondent Song Koo Lee ("Lee"), doing business as K & D Market, a small independently owned and operated grocery/liquor store in the Mission District of San Francisco. Jankey - a person with a disability who uses a wheelchair for mobility - alleged that a four-inch step located at the entry of K & D Market was an architectural barrier that prevented him and other wheelchair users from wheeling directly into the store. Jankey claimed Lee violated the ADA, (42 U.S.C. §§ 12101, et seq.); the California Disabled Persons Act ("CDPA"), (Calif. Civil Code §§ 54, et seq.); the California Unruh Civil Rights Act ("Unruh Act"), (Calif. Civil Code §§ 51, et seq.); and Part 5.5 of the California Health and Safety Code, (Calif. H & S Code §§ 19955, et seq.). Among other relief, Jankey sought injunctive relief under the ADA and Section 55 to "make [the store] readily accessible to and usable by [the disabled.]" Lee moved for (and the trial court granted) summary judgment in the defendant's favor on the grounds that Lee had proved his affirmative defense to all causes of action.

Unless specified otherwise, the facts contained in this section are drawn from the court of appeal's published opinion. *Song Koo Lee*, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355, at **1 - 2.

The court never found that Jankey's lawsuit was frivolous.

Lee, as the prevailing party, brought a motion to recover his attorney fees under Section 55. The parties disagreed, however, on whether the trial court should apply the Ninth Circuit's analysis in SoBreck, or the California court of appeal's analysis in Arciero Wine. In SoBreck, the Ninth Circuit used preemption principles to require a prevailing defendant, seeking an award of attorney fees under Section 55, to show that the disabled plaintiff's claims were frivolous. Hubbard v. SoBreck, LLC, 554 F.3d 742, 746-747 (9th Cir. 2009). In Arciero Wine, the court of appeal held that attorney fees were automatically available to a prevailing defendant under Section 55, regardless of whether the disabled plaintiff's claims were frivolous. Arciero Wine, 164 Cal.App.4th at 791. Upon considering the parties' arguments, the trial court determined that the Arciero Wine analysis controlled, and that Lee was entitled to a mandatory award of \$118,458 in attorney fees and \$3,544.54 in costs under Section 55. Jankey appealed the trial court's decision, but the court of appeal - "respectfully disagreeing" with the Ninth Circuit's preemption analysis – affirmed. It is from this ruling that petitioner seeks review.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

Because the court of appeal acknowledged that its analysis in *Song Koo Lee* was in direct conflict with the Ninth Circuit's analysis in *Sorbeck*, petitioner will not belabor that point here. Instead, he will focus on why the *Song Koo Lee* analysis was erroneous as a matter of law and should be overturned.

I. First Error – Determining that the mandatory fee-shifting provision for prevailing defendants under California's Disabled Persons Act was not conflict preempted by the ADA without applying (much less addressing) the test developed by the Supreme Court to make such a determination.

The court of appeal's first error was to determine that Section 55 was not conflict preempted by the ADA without applying (much less addressing) the test developed by the Supreme Court to make such a determination. Song Koo Lee, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355, at **6-7. According to the Supreme Court, when analyzing a conflict preemption, the primary function of a court is to determine "whether, under the circumstances of this particular case, [California] law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." See Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52, 67 (1941) (italics added); Crosby v. National Foreign Trade Council, 530 U.S. 363, 372 (2000) (A court will find conflict preemption "where under the circumstances of a particular case, the challenged state law stands as an obstacle to the

accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress."). Accord, Gibbons v. Ogden, 22 U.S. 1 (1824). This inquiry requires the court to consider the relationship between state and federal laws as they are interpreted and applied, not merely as they are written. See Jones v. Rath Packing Co., 430 U.S. 519, 526 (1977), citing De Canas v. Bica, 424 U.S. 351, 363-365 (1976). What is a sufficient obstacle to a Congressional objective is a matter of judgment, to be informed by examining the federal statute as a whole and identifying its purpose and intended effects. See Crosby, 530 U.S. at 373, quoting Savage v. Jones, 225 U.S. 501, 533 (1912); see also Hines, 312 U.S. at 67, fn. 20 (quoting same). Any state or local law that "interferes with or is contrary to federal law, must yield." Free v. Bland, 369 U.S. 663, 666 (1962); Gade v. Nat'l Solid Wastes Mgmt. Ass'n, 505 U.S. 88, 98 (1992) (Preemption "is compelled whether Congress' command is explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its structure and purpose.").

In this particular case, the court of appeal erred in allowing prevailing defendants to receive fees under state law for non-frivolous ADA claims, as such an award is inconsistent with Congressional objectives. Congress drafted the ADA with the intent that trial courts, in their discretion, would award the prevailing party attorney's fees, including litigation expenses and costs. 42 U.S.C. § 12205; H.R.

REP. 101-485(II), at p. 140, reprinted 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 303, 423. Prevailing plaintiffs would automatically receive attorney fees, unless such an award would be "unjust." See Barrios v. Cal. Interscholastic Fed'n, 277 F.3d 1128, 1134 (9th Cir. 2002), citing Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 429 (1983); see also Jankey v. Poop Deck, 537 F.3d 1122, 1130 (2008), citing Fischer v. SJB-P.D. Inc., 214 F.3d 1115, 1119, n.2 (9th Cir. 2000). When defendants are the prevailing parties, however, Congress intended for trial courts to only award fees "upon a finding that the plaintiff's action was frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation."³ Summers v. Teichert & Son, Inc., 127 F.3d 1150, 1154 (9th Cir.1997), quoting Christianburg Garment Co. v. EEOC, 434 U.S. 412, 421 (1978); H.R. REP. 101-485(111) at p. 73, reprinted 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 445, 496 (quoting same); 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 423 ("It is intended that the term 'prevailing party' be interpreted consistently with other civil rights laws. Plaintiffs should not be assessed opponents' attorneys' fees unless a court finds the plaintiffs claim is frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless.") (citation and quotations omitted). Although the

A claim is frivolous if it is clear from "the outset of the litigation" that "it lacked a factual and legal basis." *See Tutor-Saliba Corp. v. City of Hailey*, 452 F.3d 1055, 1060-61 (9th Cir. 2006); *see also Wilson v. Pier Imports (US), Inc.*, 411 F.Supp.2d 1196, 1198 (E.D. Cal. 2006) (Frivolous defined with respect to the ADA.).

court of appeal considered the *Christianburg* standard for fee awards under federal civil rights laws as an unfair strategic advantage over defendants, it is precisely the standard that Congress intended in order to advance "the important policy objectives of the Civil Rights Statutes, and the intent of Congress to achieve such objectives through the use of plaintiffs as private attorney[s] general." *Fogerty v. Fantasy, Inc.*, 510 U.S. 517, 523 (1994) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).⁴

By contrast, on its face, Section 55 neither gives courts the discretion to award fees, nor distinguishes between prevailing plaintiffs and prevailing defendants. As a result disabled plaintiffs, including the plaintiff *in this particular case*, are forced to pay fees and costs to prevailing defendants for what is in essence an unsuccessful, non-frivolous ADA claim for injunctive relief. To justify this irreconcilable conflict with Congress's objective (and marginalize the harm suffered by the plaintiffs burdened with such an award), the court of appeal

Although the Supreme Court was speaking of federal civil rights statutes in general, Congress intended that the protections of the ADA would apply the same standard and preempt lesser state laws, which logically include less stringent standards for fee awards to prevailing defendants under California law. *Wilson v. Norbreck LLC*, 2007 WL 1063050 at fn. 3 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 9, 2007) ("The same result would likely follow under federal law under preemption principles.").

focused its conflict-preemption analysis on whether the entire CDPA was generally in conflict the ADA, and not just Section 55 in this particular case. In so doing, the court of appeal drew upon the broader scope of remedies available to disabled plaintiffs under both the Unruh Act and CDPA (when compared to the ADA); and criticized the Ninth Circuit for "parsing" and "dissecting" Section 55 from the rest of the act, and ignoring its role and purpose within the CDPA. Song Koo Lee, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355, at **6-7. With all due respect to the court of appeal, this "big picture" analysis contradicts two hundred years of American jurisprudence and Congressional intent regarding attorney fees under the Assuming arguendo the criticism is valid, awarding attorney fees to ADA. prevailing defendants under state law for a non-frivolous ADA claim is still contrary to the stated objectives of Congress, regardless of whether that state law is examined as a single statute (Section 55) or an entire act (CDPA). In either scenario, the result is inconsistent with the ADA's objective of protecting disabled plaintiffs from paying attorney fees to the defense for unsuccessful, non-frivolous ADA lawsuits; and petitioner would ask this Court to overturn the underlying decision on that ground.

II. Second Error – Believing that neither Congressional intent nor the ADA's expressed preemption provision supported the Ninth Circuit's conclusion that state laws "guaranteeing" fee awards to prevailing defendants for non-frivolous ADA claims are preempted.

Having established that the court of appeal applied the incorrect standard for determining whether a state law is conflict preempted, and shown that Section 55 conflicts with Congress' objective that prevailing defendants only receive attorney fees if the underlying ADA claim was frivolous, we turn to the court of appeal's second error: assuming that Congress never intended to preempt state laws that mandated fee awards to prevailing defendants for non-frivolous ADA claims. Song Koo Lee, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355, at *6 ("there is nothing in the ADA which would support [SoBreck's] conclusion that[,] in enacting the ADA. Congress intended to impose uniform standards for complementary state law remedies."). Although the court of appeal acknowledged that Congress intended to protect the disabled from lesser state laws, and that the ADA provided a "floor" on state law rights and remedies," the court of appeal nevertheless found that a twoway guaranteed fee provision did not put Section 55 in irreconcilable conflict with the ADA or abrogate the scope of the rights available under the ADA in any fashion. Id. at **6 - 7 (quote omitted). "We have found no legal authority," the court of appeal opined, "requiring each and every element of a multi-faceted state

remedial act to offer equal or greater benefits under all circumstances over a similar federal law in order to avoid a preemption finding." *Id.* at *7. On its face, however, this statement is in direct conflict with the ADA's preemption provision and the intent of Congress.

The text of the ADA makes clear that Congress intended to preempt state or local laws that limited or reduced the protections available under the Act: "[n]othing in [the ADA] shall be construed to invalidate or limit the remedies. rights, and procedures of any Federal law or law of any State ... that provides greater or equal protection for the rights of individuals with disabilities than are afforded by [the ADA]." See 42 U.S.C. § 12201(b). By providing an express exemption for state laws that provide an equal or greater level of protection than the ADA, Congress intented to preempt all laws that conflict with the ADA by providing lesser levels of protection. See Wood v. County of Alameda, 875 F. Supp. 659, 663 (N.D. Cal. 1995) (noting that ADA was enacted to guarantee individuals with disabilities a baseline level of protection); Botosan v. Paul McNally Realty, 216 F.3d 827, 831 (9th Cir. 2000) (Congress' explicit incorporation of one statutory provision into the ADA, to the exclusion of another, must be presumed intentional under the statutory canon of expressio unius.); 136 Cong Rec H 4169, 4191 (Joint Explanatory Statement of the Committee of Conference); 136 Cong Rec H 4582, 4604 (same). The United States Department of Justice, which is entitled to *Chevron* deference, joined in this conclusion. 28 C.F.R. Pt. 36, App. B at 681; Title III Technical Assistance Manual, § III-1.8200 (1994 Supp.) ("Title III does not disturb other Federal laws or any State law that provides protection for individuals with disabilities at a level greater or equal to that provided by the ADA. It does, however, prevail over any conflicting State laws."). In light of this expressed preemption provision, the legislative record, and supporting regulations, the court of appeal's conclusion that nothing requires each and every element of the CDPA to offer equal or greater benefits than the ADA (under all circumstances) was incorrect and reversal is warranted.

III. Third Error – Assuming that the award of attorneys fees to a prevailing plaintiff, as opposed to the amount of attorneys fees awarded, is discretionary under the ADA and mandatory under Section 55.

The court of appeal's third error was to conclude that an award of attorney fees to a prevailing plaintiff is discretionary under the ADA and mandatory under Section 55. *Song Koo Lee*, --- Cal.Rptr.3d ----, 2010 WL 396355 at *7. Neither conclusion was correct. As alluded above, it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court to deny prevailing plaintiffs an award of attorney fees under the ADA, unless such an award would be "unjust." *See Barrios*, 277 F.3d at 1134, quoting *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 429 (A prevailing plaintiff under the ADA "should ordinarily recover

an attorney's fee unless special circumstances would render such an award unjust."); see also Poop Deck, 537 F.3d at 1130, quoting Fischer, 214 F.3d at 1119, n.2 ("The Supreme Court has explained that[,] in civil rights cases, the district court's discretion is limited."). Congress enacted the fee-shifting provisions of the ADA to ensure effective access to the judicial process for persons with civil rights grievances. Poop Deck, 537 F.3d at 1130, citing Hensley, 461 U.S. at 429 (quotation marks omitted). If successful plaintiffs were routinely forced to bear their own attorney fees, few aggrieved parties would be in a position to advance the public interest by invoking the injunctive powers of the courts. Ibid., citing Newman, 390 U.S. at 402. Consequently, recovery under the ADA is the rule rather than the exception. Ibid. citing Herrington v. County of Sonoma, 883 F.2d 739, 743 (9th Cir. 1989). This is, incidentally, the same standard that is applied to fee requests under Section 55.

The origin of the *Hensley* quote can be found in *Newman v. Piggy Park Enterprises*, 390 U.S. 400, 402 (1968) ("It follows that one who succeeds in obtaining an injunction under that Title should ordinarily recover an attorney's fee unless special circumstances would render such an award unjust.").

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