IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 2 2010

LES JANKEY Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

v.

Deputy

SONG KOO LEE, Individually and dba K&D MARKET, Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Re: Decision of the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Four

On Appeal from the Superior Court for San Francisco County Case No. CGC07-463040 Honorable Patrick J. Mahoney, Judge

Renée Welze Livingston (State Bar No. 124280)
Jason G. Gong (State Bar No. 181298)
LIVINGSTON LAW FIRM
A Professional Corporation
1600 South Main Street, Suite 280
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
Telephone: (925) 952-9880

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

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner asserts in their petition, as they must, that the issue they present is "one of first impression before this Court" and that "critically important questions" exist regarding whether the Court of Appeal correctly determined that a prevailing defendant may recover his attorney's fees under Civil Code Section 55 without first having to establish that a disabled plaintiff's claims were frivolous. 1 See Petition for Review at 2. Yet, while petitioner fervently declares the "critical importance" of this issue and the need for clear guidance from this Court, counsel for petitioner also admits that the identical issue has twice been presented to and rejected by this Court. See id. Indeed, counsel admits the most recent attempt for review of this issue was in a petition for review that he presented in Molski v. Arciero Wine Group (2008) 164 Cal. App.4th 786, review denied by Molski v. Arciero Wine Group, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 12251 (Cal. Oct. 16, 2008). See id. Thus, like the prior petitions for review referenced by counsel, the Court should deny review on this third attempt to secure review on an issue that this Court has already considered and denied. Put another way, the petition should be denied because it fails to establish sufficient grounds warranting review by this Court.

¹ As used herein, the term "frivolous" refers to claims that are frivolous, unreasonable or groundless and to instances where a plaintiff continues to litigate a claim after the claim has clearly become frivolous.

To begin with, review is not required or warranted in this case to secure uniformity of decision in the State because there is no dispute to be resolved among courts in the appellate districts of California. Indeed, the two California appellate courts to address the issue - the Second District in *Molski v. Arciero Wine Group* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 786, and the First District in *Jankey v. Lee* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1173 - have unanimously concluded that a prevailing defendant is not required to establish that a disabled plaintiff's claims were frivolous before recovering attorney's fees under Section 55.² Because the appellate courts that have addressed the issue presented in the instant petition have both reached the same conclusion, review is not required (or warranted) to secure uniformity of decision among courts in California.

In addition, the petition does not present an important question of law for this Court to settle or resolve. Nevertheless, petitioner lists six (6) separate errors allegedly committed by the Court of Appeal as grounds for review. *See* Petition for Review at 6-25. However, an examination of the alleged errors readily confirms that petitioner is asking this Court to correct perceived errors committed by the Court of Appeal, an insufficient reason for granting review. Because a grant of review under these circumstances

² Unless otherwise noted, subsequent statutory references are to the California Civil Code.

would lead this Court to exercise correctional, rather than institutional, review, the petition for review should be denied.

Moreover, respondent submits that this Court should deny the petition on the independent ground that the trial court determined that petitioner's claims were frivolous. *See* Attachment 1 (Trial Court's August 28, 2008 Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Attorney's Fees).

Accordingly, regardless of whether a prevailing defendant under Section 55 must establish that a plaintiff's claims were frivolous or not, respondent submits that a factual basis exists to affirm the Court of Appeal's ruling. Thus, the petition for review should be denied.

In sum, petitioner has failed to present sufficient grounds to justify review of the Court of Appeal's decision below. Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for review.

II. NATURE OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In the underlying lawsuit against respondent Song Koo Lee, petitioner Les Jankey and plaintiff Disability Rights Enforcement, Education Services' ("DREES") asserted that respondent violated their rights under the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), 42 U.S.C. Section 12101, et seq., and similar state laws requiring businesses and other public accommodations to provide reasonable access to the goods and services that are offered to non-disabled individuals. Specifically, petitioner asserted that a raised step located at the entry of the K & D

Market was an architectural barrier that prevented him and other wheelchair bound individuals from wheeling directly into the store. According to petitioner, respondent was in violation of (1) the ADA, (2) the California Disabled Persons Act ("CDPA"), Cal. Civil Code Sections 54, 54.1 and 54.3; (3) the Unruh Act, Cal. Civil Code Section 51, *et seq.*; and (4) California Health & Safety Code Section 19955.

On the merits, however, petitioner and plaintiff DREES's claims were deficient because they failed to meet their burden to demonstrate violations under the ADA, CDPA, the Unruh Act, and Section 19955 of the Cal. Health & Safety Code. Accordingly, the trial court granted respondent's motion for summary judgment on all of petitioner and DREES's claims. Thereafter, as the prevailing party, respondent moved to recover his attorney's fees under Section 55. The parties fully briefed the applicable issues, including (1) whether the trial court should apply the Ninth Circuit's decision in *Hubbard v. SoBreck, LLC*, 531 F.3d 983 (9th Cir. 2008), amended and superseded by Hubbard v. SoBreck, LLC, 554 F.3d 742 (9th Cir. 2009), which held that a prevailing defendant seeking an award of attorney's fees under Section 55 of the CDPA must show that plaintiff's claims are frivolous; (2) whether the court should apply the Court of Appeal decision in Molski v. Arciero Wine Group (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 786, which held that no such showing is required for a prevailing defendant seeking attorney's fees under Section 55; and (3) what is required to demonstrate that an action is frivolous and what facts supported respondent's contention that petitioner learned his claims were frivolous.

The trial court concluded that the *Molski* decision was controlling authority and determined that respondent was entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees and costs against petitioner and DREES, having prevailed on all claims in the underlying summary judgment motion. Upon considering respondent's evidence submitted in support of the fee motion, the trial court awarded respondent \$118,458.00 in attorney's fees and \$3,544.54 in costs for a total award of \$122,002.54. Petitioner and plaintiff DREES appealed.

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal (Division Four) analyzed the issues presented and applied conflict preemption principles articulated by the United States Supreme Court, which this Court has adopted in its prior decisions when analyzing whether federal law preempts state law. *See Jankey*, 181 Cal.App.4th at 1183-87. After carefully considering the issue, the Court of Appeal reasoned that Section 55 is not in direct conflict with the ADA and is therefore not preempted by federal law. *See id.* Thus, the Court of Appeal concluded that a prevailing defendant is not required to demonstrate that a disabled plaintiff's claims are frivolous before recovering attorney's fees under Section 55. Accordingly, the Court

of Appeal affirmed the trial court's judgment for respondent in its entirety.

This Petition for Review followed.

III. DISCUSSION

A. Review Is Not Required To Secure Uniformity Of Decision Among The Courts Of Appeal In California.

As noted above, the two Courts of Appeal decisions (*Molski v. Arciero Wine Group* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 786 and *Jankey v. Lee* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1173) that have considered the issue of whether a prevailing defendant must establish that a disabled plaintiff's claims were frivolous before recovering attorney's fees under Section 55, have unanimously concluded that no such showing is required. *See Molski*, 164 Cal.App.4th at 791-92; *Jankey*, 181 Cal.App.4th at 1183-87.

In *Molski*, the appellate court considered, and rejected, plaintiff's assertion that the holding in *Christianburg Garment Co. v. EEOC* (1978) 434 U.S. 412, 422 ("*Christianburg*") should apply to plaintiffs engaged in access litigation in California state court. *See Molski*, 164 Cal.App.4th at 791. In *Christianburg*, the Supreme Court reasoned that a plaintiff who unsuccessfully seeks to enforce his rights under Title VII should not be assessed attorney's fees unless the claims were frivolous, because imposition of fees against a Title VII plaintiff presenting non-frivolous claims would "undercut the efforts of Congress to promote the vigorous enforcement of the provisions of Title VII." *See id.* However, the *Molski*

Court reasoned that "[t]his concern does not apply to access litigation in California state court, where a plaintiff controls the relative risks, burdens and benefits by selecting from among several statutory options." *See id.;* see also id. at 791-92 (noting that a disabled plaintiff can make an election of remedies and can avoid an adverse fee award by carefully assessing the merits of his or her claim under Section 55 before deciding to prosecute or continuing to prosecute such claim).

In Jankey, the appellate court agreed with the holding in Molski regarding plaintiff's ability to control the relative risks, burdens and benefits of access litigation in California state court. However, the Court also addressed the issue of whether Section 55 is preempted by the ADA. Upon discussing the applicable standards governing its preemption analysis, the Court of Appeal concluded that "Hubbard improperly used conflict preemption principles to decide the issue before it, and in applying those principles, erroneously concluded that the ADA and Section 55 were in conflict." Jankey, 181 Cal.App.4th at 1184-85. The Court reasoned that Section 55 and other provisions of the CDPA as well as the Unruh Act (Civil Code Section 51) did not conflict with, but instead, complemented the ADA by providing greater protections to disabled plaintiffs than those available under the ADA. See id. Thus, rather than diluting the rights of plaintiffs, the legislative history of Section 55 revealed that the statute was designed to provide greater incentives and rights to disabled plaintiffs

pursuing access litigation in California, something that Congress envisioned when it passed the ADA. *See id.* at 1184-86. Accordingly, the *Jankey* Court concluded that *Hubbard* "improperly parsed the law" when it failed to consider the breadth and scope of the CDPA and Section 55 in relation to the ADA, electing instead to narrowly focus on the language of Section 55 to conclude the statute was in conflict with the ADA and therefore preempted under federal law. *See id.*

In sum, review is not required to secure uniformity of decision among courts in California because there is no conflict among the appellate courts on the issue presented in petitioner's petition for review.

Accordingly, the Court should deny the petition for review.

B. Review Is Not Required To Settle An Important Question Of Law.

Rule 8.500(b) of the California Rules of Court provides that the "Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision: (1) when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." See Cal. Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1) Thus, the Courts of Appeal function as an error correction court while the Supreme Court oversees the institutional development of the law. See id.; see also People v. Davis (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 350 (stating that the Court's role is to ensure "uniformity of decision and the settlement of important questions of law").

Here, petitioner has presented six (6) separate grounds for review. *See* Petition for Review at 6-25. Specifically, petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeal erred by (1) failing to apply the governing standards for conflict preemption; (2) not considering the preemption clause contained in the ADA; (3) relying on the express language of the ADA to state that an award of attorney's fees to a prevailing plaintiff is discretionary, but mandatory pursuant to the express terms of Section 55; (4) failing to consider the legislative history behind Section 55; (5) applying the plain meaning of Section 55's language to award attorney fees to defendant, the prevailing party; and (6) allegedly relying on a vexatious litigant order issued against petitioner's trial counsel, Thomas Frankovich, to rule against petitioner.

However, a review of the appellate court's alleged errors quickly confirms that petitioner is seeking correctional review from this Court, an improper and insufficient reason for granting review. In addition, respondent notes that petitioner has not demonstrated (much less addressed) how the Court of Appeal's ruling will affect a significant number of people statewide or require resolution of an issue of broad public concern. Instead, it is readily apparent that petitioner is seeking vindication of his narrow personal interests in this case, namely to avoid liability on the trial court's order awarding attorney fees to respondent. *See id.* Because the instant

petition does not present an important question of law for this Court to settle or resolve, the Court should deny the petition for review.

C. Review Is Unwarranted Where An Independent Basis Supports Affirming The Court Of Appeal's Decision Below.

As noted above, the trial court considered briefing from the parties on the issue of whether the Ninth Circuit's holding in *Hubbard v. SoBreck* or the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Molski v. Arciero Wine* was controlling authority on respondent's motion for attorney's fee. However, the trial court also requested that the parties submit supplemental briefing on the issue of what is required to demonstrate that an action is frivolous and what facts supported respondent's contention that petitioner's claims were frivolous.

Here, the trial court concluded that the *Molski* decision was controlling authority and determined that respondent, as the prevailing party, was entitled to recover his reasonable attorney's fees and costs from petitioner and plaintiff DREES. *See* Attachment 1 (Trial Court's August 28, 2008 Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Attorney's Fees) at 2. Although the trial court could have recited the award of attorney's fees immediately following its determination that *Molski* was controlling authority, it did not do so. *See id.* Instead, the trial court elected to address the "problematic" nature of petitioner's claims and the fact that petitioner failed to investigate and presented no evidence to substantiate his claims.

See id. Specifically, the trial court found that "[g]iven the extensive experience of plaintiff's counsel in these cases, it may be reasonably inferred that he and, in turn his clients, knew just how problematic this litigation was." See id. In addition, the trial court noted that plaintiffs "present no evidence to suggest that they had any reason to believe" certain assertions made in their complaint regarding defendant's premises. See id. Moreover, with respect to plaintiff DREES, the trial court noted that DRESS lacked standing and knew that its claims would fail in light of "a holding previously applied to DREES in Molski v. Mandarin Touch Restaurant (2005) 359 F.Supp.2d 924." See id. Yet, with full knowledge of the prior ruling on the issue of its standing, DREES nevertheless persisted with its claims against respondent and maintained those claims until the trial court granted summary judgment for respondent.³

Although the trial court did not expressly use the term frivolous in describing the problematic nature of petitioner's claims and plaintiff DREES's lack of standing from the inception of the action, respondent submits that the trial court's findings in its August 28, 2008 order is tantamount to a specific determination that petitioner's and DREES's claims were frivolous. *See* Attachment No. 1 at 2. Thus, respondent

Respondent is aware of at least one other ruling in a published decision where DREES was dismissed for lack of standing. See Jankey v. Poop Deck, 537 F.3d 1122, 1124 (9th Cir. 2008) (indicating that "[o]n July 25, 2005, the district court dismissed DREES for lack of standing," a ruling that DREES did not appeal). Moreover, plaintiff DREES in the instant case did not contest the trial court's tentative ruling on the finding that DREES lacked standing. Nor did DREES appeal the trial court's adverse ruling to the Court of Appeal below, thereby conceding on two occasions that its claims were frivolous from the inception of the lawsuit against respondent.

contends that an independent factual basis exists to affirm the decision of

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